

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

SciVerse ScienceDirect



SPECIAL ARTICLE

The burden of inflammatory bowel disease in Europe

Johan Burisch^{a,1}, Tine Jess^{b,1}, Matteo Martinato^c, Peter L. Lakatos^{d,*} on behalf of ECCO -EpiCom

^a Digestive Disease Centre, Medical Section, Herlev University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark

^b Department of Epidemiology Research, Statens Serum Institut, National Center for Health Data and Disease Control, Copenhagen, Denmark

^c Department of Surgical, Oncological and Gastroenterological sciences, Padua University, Italy

^d 1st Department of Medicine, Semmelweis University, Budapest, Hungary

Received 22 December 2012; accepted 7 January 2013

KEYWORDS

Inflammatory bowel disease; Incidence; Mortality; Surgery; Disability; Economy

Abstract

Inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) are chronic disabling gastrointestinal disorders impacting every aspect of the affected individual's life and account for substantial costs to the health care system and society. New epidemiological data suggest that the incidence and prevalence of the diseases are increasing and medical therapy and disease management have changed significantly in the last decade. An estimated 2.5–3 million people in Europe are affected by IBD, with a direct healthcare cost of 4.6–5.6 bn Euros/year. Therefore, the aim of this review is to describe the burden of IBD in Europe by discussing the latest epidemiological data, the disease course and risk for surgery and hospitalization, mortality and cancer risks, as well as the economic aspects, patients' disability and work impairment.

 ${\ensuremath{\mathbb C}}$ 2013 European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

2.	Introduction	323
	2.1. Incidence and prevalence rates	323
	Disease phenotype, overall disease course and relapse rates	
4.	Hospitalization rates	326
5.	Surgery in IBD in Europe: rates, trends and causes	327

* Corresponding author at: 1st Department of Medicine, Semmelweis University, Koranyi S. 2/A, H-1083 Hungary. Tel.: +36 1 210 0278/1500, 1520; fax: +36 1 313 0250.

E-mail address: lakatos.peter_laszlo@med.semmelweis-univ.hu (P.L. Lakatos).

¹ Contributed equally.

1873-9946/\$ - see front matter © 2013 European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.crohns.2013.01.010

	Extra intestinal manifestations
	Disability and economic burden of IBD in Europe 32
	Cancer and mortality
	8.1. Colorectal and small bowel cancer
	8.2. Extra-intestinal cancer
	8.3. Mortality
9.	Summary and conclusion
Con	Iflict of interest
Refe	erences

1. Introduction

The inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD), Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC), are chronic inflammatory disorders of the gastrointestinal tract of unknown etiology. The diseases are thought to be the result of a disregulated mucosal immune response to commensal gut flora in genetically susceptible individuals. The impact of IBD on patients' quality of life is substantial due to early onset, fluctuating disease course and the lack of a cure. Furthermore, CD and UC account for substantial costs to the health care system and society. Descriptive epidemiological studies are important for health care system leadership, as they provide valuable information for decision making. The aim of this review is to describe the burden of IBD in Europe by discussing the occurrence of IBD, the risk for surgery and hospitalization, mortality and cancer risks, as well as the patients' disability and work impairment.

2. Incidence and prevalence in Europe

The incidence and prevalence of IBD is subject to considerable variation, both between and within geographic regions, with IBD being more common in industrialized than in non-industrialized countries. Traditionally, the highest occurrence of both UC and CD is found in the developed countries of North America^{1,2} and Europe. Within Europe, the highest incidence and prevalence rates are found in Scandinavia³⁻¹⁵ and the United Kingdom¹⁶⁻¹⁹ while the diseases remain rare in Eastern Europe. ^{20–22} However, the occurrence of IBD is a dynamic process as increasing incidence rates being reported from previously low incidence areas, including not only Asia,²³ for instance, but also Eastern Europe.^{24,25}

The comparison of incidence and prevalence rates in IBD across multiple studies is challenging. Detection rates and diagnostic criteria differ between studies, just as access to diagnostic procedures, such as endoscopy, may vary over time and between centers. Furthermore, methods of case assessment, as well as physicians' disease awareness, vary considerably and complete case assessment is dependent on the ability to identify all cases in the population. As such, prospective population-based studies are preferable in descriptive epidemiology compared to studies using secondary data that depend on existing hospital or public health registry systems; however such prospective population-based studies are both expensive and time consuming, and therefore rare. It is thus essential to bear in mind that observed differences between regions might either be attributed to real differences

in environmental factors, lifestyle, and genetic susceptibility or simply be due to differences in methodology.

2.1. Incidence and prevalence rates

Incidence and prevalence rates from selected countries in Europe are shown in Tables 1 and 2. The incidence of CD in Europe ranges from 0.5 to 10.6 cases per 100,000 person-years while the estimates for UC range from 0.9 to 24.3 per 100,000 person-years. The highest incidence rates are observed in Scandinavia and the United Kingdom, while the lowest rates are seen in southern and Eastern Europe — suggesting a north-west/south-east gradient in IBD incidence. The European Collaborative Study on Inflammatory Bowel Disease (EC-IBD) assessed the north–south gradient in a prospective population-based cohort using uniformed diagnostic criteria and case ascertainment methods. The total incidence rates in northern Europe were 6.3 for CD and 11.4 for UC per 100,000 person-years, while in southern Europe they were for 3.6 and 8.0 per 100,000 person-years, respectively.²⁶

Extrapolation of the incidence figures on the total European population (app. 731 million in 2006,²⁷) despite the challenges of heterogeneous health care systems and differences in study methodology between countries and centers, would indicate a maximal estimate of 78,000 new cases of CD and 178,000 new cases of UC each year — for a combined estimate of 256,000 new cases of IBD per year. Previous reviews²⁸ have used the population of the European Union (27 countries, approximately 500 million in 2012²⁹) which would yield 53,000 new cases of CD and 123,000 new cases of IBD each year.

The prevalence of CD in Europe varies from 1.5^{22} to 213^{12} cases per 100,000 persons, whereas the prevalence of UC in Europe varies from 2.4^{22} to 294^6 cases per 100,000 persons. As for the incidence of IBD, the highest prevalence rates are found in Northern Europe. Extrapolating these numbers for the total European population indicates that there may be up to 1.6 million persons with CD and 2.1 million persons with UC in Europe, meaning a combined total of 3.7 million persons with IBD. Using the population of the European Union yields maximal estimates of 1.1 million persons with CD and 1.5 million persons with UC in Europe, for a combined total of 2.6 million persons with IBD.

Since the incidence of both CD and UC is increasing or stable in virtually every region of the world,³⁰ the prevalence of IBD is expected to increase further due to the early age of onset and low mortality of IBD patients. The emergence of IBD in traditionally low-prevalence regions (i.e. Eastern Europe) will further contribute to this increase. A
 Table 1
 Incidence rates of CD and UC in selected populations.

Country	Region	Study period	CD incidence (10 ⁵)	UC incidence (10 ⁵)		
Eastern Europe						
Czech Republic ²⁰ North Bohemia		1978	NA	1.3		
Estonia ²¹	Tartu County	1993-1998	1.4	1.7		
Hungary ²⁴	Western Hungary	2002-2006	8.9	11.9		
Romania ²²	Nationwide	2002-2003	0.5	0.97		
Southern/Central Euro	ope					
Belgium ¹³²	Liege	1993-1996	4.5	3.6		
Croatia ²⁵	Primorsko-goranska County	2000-2004	6.5	4.6		
Croatia ^{133,134}		1980-1989	0.7	1.5		
roatia ^{133,134} Zagreb rance ¹³⁵ Northern France		2006-2007	6.7	3.4		
Germany ¹³⁶	Oberpfalz	2004-2006	6.6	3.9		
Greece ¹³⁷	North-western Greece	1983-2005	2.7	0.9		
Italy ¹³⁸	Florence	1990-1992	3.4	9.6		
Italy ¹³⁹	8 Italian cities	1989–1992	2.3	5.2		
The Netherlands ¹⁴⁰	South Limburg	1991–2003	6.2	7.7		
Spain ¹⁴¹	Navarra	2001–2003	5.9	9.6		
Spain ¹⁴²	Oviedo	2000-2002	7.5	9.1		
Spain ¹⁴³	Madrid	2003-2005	7.3	7.1		
Spann	Madrid	2003 2003	1.5	7.1		
Northern Europe	Consultation country	40/2 4007		0.4		
Denmark ^{3,4}	Copenhagen county	1962-1987	4.1	8.1		
Denmark ⁵	Copenhagen county	2003-2005	8.6	13.4		
Denmark ⁶	North Jutland	1978-2002	6.7	12.2		
Faroe Islands ⁷	Nationwide	1981-1988	3.6	20.3		
Finland ⁸	Tampere	1986–1999	7.2	16.5		
Iceland ⁹	Nationwide	1990–1994	5.5	16.5		
Norway ^{10,11}	Southeast Norway	1990–1993	5.8	13.6		
Sweden ¹²	Stockholm county	1990-2001	8.3	NA		
Sweden ^{13,14}	Örebro	1963-1987	6.1	13.1		
Sweden ¹⁵	Uppsala	2005-2007	NA	17.5		
United Kingdom ¹⁶	Derby	1991-1992	10.6	NA		
United Kingdom ¹⁷	North Tees	1990-1994	8.3	13.9		
United Kingdom ¹⁸	Cardiff	1996-2005	6.6	NA		
Northern Europe ²⁶	8 Northern European cities	1991–1993	6.3	11.4		
	Iceland, Reykjavik		8.2	24.3		
	Norway, Oslo		6.9	15.6		
	Denmark, Copenhagen		6.6	10.0		
	Ireland, Dublin		5.9	14.8		
	UK, Leicester (nonimmigrants)		3.2	9.2		
	UK, Leicester (immigrants)		4.7	15.1		
	The Netherlands, Maastricht		7.7	13.1		
	Germany, Essen		3.5	4.3		
24	France, Amiens		8.1	5.6		
Southern Europe ²⁶	12 Northern European cities	1991–1993	3.6	8.0		
	Italy, Milan-Varese		3.2	10.0		
	Italy, Crema-Cremona		2.7	7.5		
	Italy, Reggio Emilia		4.0	7.5		
	Italy, Florence		2.7	8.1		
	Italy, Palermo, Sicily		5.8	8.5		
	Spain, Vigo		4.8	7.0		
	Spain, Sabadell		4.9	9.0		
	Portugal, Braga		3.7	5.5		
	Portugal, Almada		2.3	1.7		
	Greece, Northwest Greece		1.0	8.5		
	Greece, Heraklion, Crete		3.9	16.6		
	Israel, Beer Sheva		4.3	8.5		

Country	Region	Study period	CD prevalence (10 ⁵)	UC prevalence (10 ⁵	
Eastern Europe					
Czech Republic ²⁰	North Bohemia	1968–1978	NA	17.6	
Hungary ¹⁴⁴	Veszprem Province	1991-2001	52.9	142.6	
Romania ²²	Nationwide	2004	1.5	2.4	
Southern/Central Europe					
Croatia ^{133,134}	Zagreb	1989	8.3	21.4	
Bosnia and Herzegovina ^{145,146}	Tuzla	2006	28.2	43.1	
Italy ¹³⁸	Florence	1992	40	121	
The Netherlands ^{147,148}	Leiden	1979–1983	48	58.4	
Germany ¹⁴⁹	Tubingen	1984	54.6	24.8	
Spain ¹⁵⁰	Asturias	1997	87.5	110.0	
Spain ¹⁵¹	Madrid	1988	19.8	43.4	
Switzerland ¹⁵²	Canton of Vaud	2003–2004	100.7	105.0	
Northern Europe					
Denmark ^{3,4}	Copenhagen county	1987	54	161.2	
Denmark ⁶	North Jutland	2002	151	294	
Faroe Islands ¹⁵³	Nationwide	1986	31.8	157.3	
Finland ⁸	Tampere	1986–1999	82	205	
Iceland ¹⁵⁴	Nationwide	1950–1979	6	72	
Sweden ¹²	Stockholm county	2001	213	NA	
Sweden ^{13,14}	Örebro	1987	146	198	
United Kingdom ¹⁹	Derby	1985	85	NA	
United Kingdom ¹⁷	North Tees	1994	144.8	243.4	

 Table 2
 Prevalence rates of CD and UC in selected populations.

current inception cohort study by the Epidemiological Committee (EpiCom) is investigating the East-west gradient in the incidence of IBD, as well as differences in potential environmental risk factors between Eastern and Western Europe.³¹

The incidence and prevalence of CD and UC is increasing in Europe. Estimated 0.3% of the European population suffers from IBD equalling 2.5–3 million persons.

3. Disease phenotype, overall disease course and relapse rates

One of the most important parameter associated with longterm outcomes is the disease phenotype. Current practice guidelines advocate the use of the Montreal classification in both CD and UC.³² The most important variables are age at onset and disease location (terminal ileum (L1), colon (L2) and ileocolon (L3) and upper GI (L4) as modifier), behavior (non-stricturing non-penetrating (B1), structuring (B2) and penetrating (B3)) and presence of perianal disease in CD and disease extent (proctitis (E1), left-sided (E2) and extensive (E3)) in UC. Yet, there are still limited data available on the natural history of IBD in Europe.

In CD, the distribution of location is relatively homogeneous and stable with the exception of the reported variance in the frequency of the upper GI location, especially in pediatric–versus adult-onset populations. In addition, the proportion of isolated colonic disease is increasing in the last decade. An example may be the recent IBSEN cohort³³ with 27% of patients with L1, 48% L2 and 23% L3 and only 2% L4 disease at presentation. Somewhat lower rates of isolated colonic disease were reported from Denmark (L2: 30%, 43% and 37% in 1962–1987, 1991–1993 and 2003–2004).³⁴ Similar data were recently reported also from Eastern Europe (L1: 20%; L2: 35%, L3: 44% and all L4: 2.4%)²⁴ in 2002–2006.

Up to one-third of European patients may present with complicated disease phenotype at diagnosis, e.g. in the IBSEN cohort 36%, 49% and 53% of patients had presented with or developed stricturing or penetrating disease at diagnosis or after 5- or 10-years. In contrast, in previous cohorts by Cosnes et al., ³⁵ up to 70% of CD patients developed either penetrating or stricturing disease. Similar results were published in a Belgian study. ³⁶ 45.9% of patients had a change in disease behavior during 10 years of follow-up, from non-stricturing, non-penetrating disease to either stricturing (27.1%) or penetrating (29.4%) disease. In contrast, disease location remained relatively stable during follow-up, with only 15.9% of patients exhibiting a change in disease location during the first 10 years. The rate of perianal complication may vary between 10 and 20% at presentation.

In UC, the distribution of the disease extent at diagnosis is variable among the different cohorts with increasing rates of proctitis. In the IBSEN cohort³⁷ the distribution of the disease extent was E1 in 32%, E2 in 35% and E3 in 33%. Of the patients initially diagnosed with proctitis, 28% had progressed during

the observation period, 10% to extensive colitis over the next 5-years. Similar distribution of the initial disease extent was observed in a population-based cohort from Eastern Europe (E1: 27%, E2: 51% and E3: 22%),²⁴ while the 5-year probability of proximal disease extension in patients with initial proctitis or left-sided colitis was 12.7%. The rate of proctitis was more variable in Denmark,³⁴ with 44%, 60% and 31% at diagnosis reported in 1962–1987, 1991–1993 and 2003–2004. Little data are available on the relapse rates and overall disease course in IBD from Europe. Most data were published from the Nordic countries.

In one of the early publications, the long-term disease course was reported in 185 CD patients followed-up regularly between 1960 and 78 in Copenhagen, Denmark.³⁸ About 45% of patients were without clinical symptoms for all the observation years. The disease activity was low in app. 30% of patients and moderate-to high in app. 25%. Continuous disease activity was observed in about 20% and intermittent symptoms were reported in 35% of patients with active disease in a given year. However, the cumulative relapse rate after 5-years was already as high as 93.1%. Similar disease course was reported in a follow-up cohort from the same region in 1991–1993.³⁴

A better disease course was reported in UC during the same observation period from the Danish group³⁹ in 1161 patients diagnosed and followed between 1962 and 1987. After the initial one to two years, approximately 50% of UC patients were in remission in each year of follow-up, while the proportion of patients with active disease fell gradually to about 30% parallel with an increasing proportion of patients treated by colectomy. The proportion of patients in remission increased with increasing disease duration. The cumulative probability of clinical relapse was 81.6% after 5-years' disease duration, while only 1% of patients experienced continuously active disease. Interestingly, in the 1991–1993 Copenhagen cohort³⁴ the probability of aggressive disease during the first 5-years fell from 23.8% to 13.2%.

Somewhat different rates were published in the EC-IBD study.⁴⁰ First all types of cumulative recurrence rates were 34%, 69.2%, and 77.5% after 1, 5, and 10 years of follow-up in 358 CD patients, with similar second and third all type relapse rates (40.2%, 76.9% and 82.6% vs. 45.9 and 76.4% after 1, 5, and 10 years). Upper gastrointestinal location and 5-ASA therapy were associated with increased risk of relapses. Interestingly, relapse rates were associated to the geographic region. Higher relapse rates were reported from Copenhagen, while lower rates were observed in Greece, Italy and Norway. Relapse rates and disease course were reported more recently from the IBSEN group from Norway.³⁷ Of the 454 UC patients, 78% experienced at least one relapse during the first 5-years. Relapse rates were higher in females (p=0.01) and relapsing patients were younger (p<0.001), but it was not associated to disease extent. In addition, when patients were asked to self-assess their disease course, 59% experienced a decline in the severity of intestinal symptoms during the follow-up period. In contrast, only 1% of patients experienced an increase in severity, while chronic continuous symptoms were present in 9%. A relapsing course was observed in 31%, respectively. In a follow-up study of the same cohort, ⁴¹ 48% of the UC patients were in clinical remission between 5 and 10-years after diagnosis.

Similar to earlier reports, a high cumulative relapse rate (53%, 85% and 90% after 1, 5, and 10 years) was reported in 237 CD patients from the same group³³ associated with early need

The majority of the patients with inflammatory diseases in Europe experience a relapsing disease course with 20-25% of patients experiencing chronic continuous symptoms.

Up to 30-40% of CD patients in Europe present with complicated disease phenotype at diagnosis and a similar proportion of patients may develop complications over the next 10-15-years of follow-up.

4. Hospitalization rates

Relatively little data are available and hospitalization rates in patients with IBD vary between European countries. In the early era a significant proportion of the diagnostic workup was done on an inpatient basis leading to fairly high initial hospitalization rates as reported from the Nordic countries. As an example the hospitalization rate within the year of diagnosis was as high as 83% in CD patients diagnosed between 1962 and 1987 in Copenhagen County, Denmark. In addition, approximately 20% of patients were admitted yearly over the next 5 years⁴² (Table 3).

Additional data are available from a Pan-European prospective follow-up study.⁴³ Data from this study confirm that hospitalization rates decline significantly from the second year after diagnosis. The cumulative risk of overall hospitalization was 52.7% at 10 years from diagnosis, but with considerable differences between countries. Rates were highest in Denmark, Ireland, Portugal while low rates were observed in Norway, Greece and Italy.

In contrast, in UC hospitalization reflects mainly the failure of medical therapy and disease severity and is associated with the need for colectomy and ultimately mortality. In a retrospective cohort from Oxford cohort, need for hospitalization for acute severe colitis was the most important predictor for colectomy.⁴⁴ Overall, 12% needed colectomy, however the rate was higher, 39.8% (74/186) in patients with one or more severe episodes compared to those not needing an admission 3.4% (19/564). Colectomy rates were increasing with subsequent admission, being 19.9%, 29.0%, and 36.6%% after one, two or three episodes, respectively. Similar findings were reported from North America with stable hospitalization rates in UC.^{45,46}

A meta-analysis of hospitalization rates in IBD was published from 9 European countries based on the data of the national statistic offices in 2009.⁴⁷ Hospitalization rates varied significantly among countries between 1.2 and 4.3 discharges per 10,000 for CD and between 0.7 and 4.7 discharges per 10,000 for UC. The highest rates were found in Denmark and Scotland, while the lowest in Spain, Switzerland and the Netherlands. Numbers were similar for UC and CD in the given country with a

Table 3 Hospitalization rates in selected European cohorts in patients with Crohn's disease.					
Country	Time period	Cohort type	Cohort size	Hospitalization rate	
Copenhagen, Denmark ⁴²	1962–1987	Population-based cohort	373	83% in the 1st year after the diagnosis and 20% annually in the next 5 yrs.	
EC-IBD ⁴³	1991–2001	Inception cohort study from referral centers	425	52.7% in the first 10-years, significant variation among countries	

specific age-distribution pattern (CD: high peak in younger patients and small peak in the elderly. UC: opposite trend).

Nevertheless hospitalization is an important but partly subjective outcome measure. Need for hospitalization may be associated to multiple factors including not only disease severity but also need for diagnostic workup, health care/ reimbursement policy and ethnic differences. Furthermore, the bar for hospitalization may be different in expert centers versus community settings.

Hospitalization rates are high, but slowly decreasing in patients with Crohn's disease with approximately 50% of European patients requiring hospitalization within 10-years from diagnosis. The actual rates may vary significantly between countries.

In UC, hospitalization rates remained stable and reflect disease severity and risk for colectomy.

5. Surgery in IBD in Europe: rates, trends and causes

The overall cumulative surgery rates in CD were 10–35%, 21–59% and 37–61% at 1, 5 and 10 years after diagnosis, ⁴⁸ respectively. In general, surgery rates seem to have declined in the last two decades, as suggested by a recent review article by Bernstein et al.⁴⁸ focusing on surgery patterns and rates published in population-based studies. Surgical rates and risk for surgery in IBD in Europe are mainly comparable to that reported from Northern America in both CD and UC with some exceptions. Of note, the reported surgical pattern naturally varies between population-based studies and referral centers. In addition, there are some local geographic differences, e.g. higher surgical rates are still reported from Denmark or the lower colectomy rates in UC in the Mediterranean and Eastern Europe (Table 4).

Early studies reported exceedingly high surgical rates, such as the population-based Stockholm County cohort from 1955 to 1974. Reported surgery rates were 30%, 50% and 60% at 5, 10 and 15 years⁴⁹ and surgical rates did not change significantly in an update report from a follow-up cohort.⁵⁰

Similar high rates were reported from Copenhagen in a population-based cohort some years later (1962-87).⁵¹ 35% of CD patients had surgery during the first year after diagnosis. The cumulative probability of surgery was 61% at 10 years and 82% at 20 years. Similarly, high initial surgical rates were reported from a referral-based French cohort, with a need for early surgery as high as 15% in the first three months after the diagnosis, while the annual surgical rates

remained stable over time (1978–2002).⁵² In a more recent update from the Copenhagen cohort significantly lower (12%) surgery rates were reported within the year of diagnosis in incident cases diagnosed between 2003 and 2005^5 and the risk has continued to decline.⁵³

The latest data from Denmark approach the low surgery rates reported from another Nordic country, in a populationbased cohort from Southeastern Norway by the IBSEN group in patients diagnosed between 1990 and 1994. Cumulative probability of surgery was 14%, 27% and 38% at 1, 5 and 10 years from diagnosis with 9% having at least one reoperation.³³ Terminal ileal location, stricturing or penetrating disease and an age younger than 40 years at diagnosis were significantly associated to the risk for surgery.

The best data outside of the Nordic countries comes from the multicenter European EC-IBD inception cohort in patients diagnosed between 1991 and 1993.⁴³ The cumulative surgery rate after 10-years was 37.2%. After the first surgery, 2.2%, 18.5%, and 35.9% of patients need additional surgical intervention at 1, 5, and 10 years, respectively.⁴⁰ Interestingly, a geographic variability was reported. Patients from Northern European centers, especially Copenhagen, had higher risk of surgical interventions. The reason for the observed geographic differences is not well understood. Partially, this was may be explained by more aggressive disease phenotype as suggested by the authors but likely other factors may contribute such as s different attitude toward surgery.

More recently, declining surgical rates associated with increased and earlier use of immunosuppressives was reported from two population-based studies from Cardiff (Wales) between 1986 and 2003 and Hungary⁵⁴ between 1977 and 2008. In the first study surgery rates decreased during the follow-up periods from 59% to 25% 5-years after the diagnosis (p=0.001) in patients diagnosed in 1986–91and 1998–2003. In the Eastern European study surgical rates were decreased in patients diagnosed after 1999. The reported surgical rates were 9.8%, 18.5%, and 21.3% after 1, 3, and 5 years after the diagnosis in patients diagnosed between 2002 and 2006.²⁴ Also in Denmark, the decrease in surgery was paralleled with an increasing use of immuno-suppressives and biologicals, although causality was not established.⁵³

Unquestionably, the reason for recent decreases in surgery rates is multifactorial. Disease phenotypes (behavior) in the more recent cohorts seems to be more mild, with a greater proportion of patients with inflammatory disease at diagnosis, ^{55,56} however other factors are likely to contribute. Follow-up strategy has changed significantly in the last decades and increased and earlier use of immunosuppressives may partially be regarded as a marker (one factor) of this complex change

Country	Time period	Cohort type	Cohort size	Surgery in Crohn's disease/colectomy in ulcerative colitis		
				1 year	5 years	10 years
Crohn's disease						
Sweden ⁴⁹	1955–1974	Population-based cohort	826	-	30%	50%
Denmark ^{5,51}	1962-1993	Population-based cohort	373	35%	_	61%
	2003-2005		562	12%		
Norway ³³	1990-2000	Population-based cohort	237	14%	27%	38%
EC-IBD ⁴³	1991-2001	Inception cohort study	425	_	-	37%
		from referral centers				
UK ⁵⁵	1986–1991	Population-based cohort	105	32%	59 %	_
	1992-1997		99	25%	37%	
	1998-2003		137	19 %	25%	
Hungary ^{24,61}	1977-2008	Population-based cohort	506	15%	31%	52%
	2002-2006		163	10%	21%	
Ulcerative colit	is					
Denmark ³⁹	1962–1987	Population-based cohort	1151	_	_	24%
Norway ⁴¹	1990-2004	Population-based cohort	519	3.5%	_	9.8%
EC-IBD ⁶⁰	1991-2003	Inception cohort study	771	_	_	8.7%
		from referral centers				
Hungary ^{24,61}	1977-2008	Population-based cohort	914	-	1.6%	3.7%
	2002-2006		220	0.5%	1.8%	2.8%

Table 4 Surgery and colectomy rates in selected European inflammatory bowel disease cohorts.

pointing towards improved medical management. This is further supported by a recent publication from Canada,⁵⁷ where authors were able to show an association between early gastroenterologist care and lower risk of surgery parallel with an increased early use of immunosupressives. Yet, exposure to immunosupressives seems to be still relatively low in the population-based studies and reoperation rates are essentially unchanged. Of note, the above surgery rates and trends were reported in mainly pre-biological cohorts with only minimal or no biological exposure, except for the recent Danish study which did not report causality.⁵³ Whether biological therapy directly influences long-term surgery rates and surgery trends remains unclear.

While the main aim of surgery in Crohn's disease is to eliminate the complications, the indication of colectomy and surgical therapy in ulcerative colitis is usually failure of medical therapy leading to chronic active disease or fulminate colitis. In one of the early studies from Sweden, excessive colectomy rates (20% and 45% at 5 years and 25 years) were reported in 1586 patients followed-up from 1955 to 1984.⁵⁸ Disease extent was universally identified as an important predictive factor for colectomy. Interestingly, a disease extension was observed in the majority of the patients with initial proctitis who needed colectomy later during the disease course. Similarly, high colectomy rates were reported from the Copenhagen⁵⁹ county in the same time period with 10% of patients requiring colectomy in the year of diagnosis.

Higher colectomy rates were persistently reported from the Northern-European centers, as confirmed also in the more recent EC-IBD study in patients diagnosed between 1991 and 1993.^{56,60} Of note, the cumulative colectomy rate was lower (8.7%) compared to the previously reported rates. Nonetheless, the difference between northern and southern centers was significant with 25.7% 10-year cumulative colectomy risk from Denmark (HR 8.2; 95% CI, 3.6–18.6), 8.2% from Norway and the Netherlands combined (HR 2.7; 95% CI, 1.3–5.6) and only 3.9% from the south European centers. Similarly low overall colectomy rates were reported in population-based studies from Eastern Europe. The cumulative colectomy rate was 1.6% and 3.7% after 5 and 10 years' disease duration in UC patients diagnosed between 1977 and 2008.⁶¹

Finally, new data from the Nordic countries are showing a trend for decreasing colectomy rates. A prospective population-based study in the early 1990s from South-eastern Norway by the IBSEN group⁴¹ revealed 3.5% and 10% colectomy rates at 1 and 10-years after the diagnosis. Similarly, lower colectomy rates were recently reported from Denmark⁵ with a 10 year colectomy rate of approximately 10%.⁴⁰

Of note, higher colectomy rates were reported from studies done in solely pediatric onset UC populations from Northern and Western Europe. In a Danish population-based study the cumulative colectomy rate in the pediatric-onset UC patients diagnosed between 1962 and 1987 was 6.4%, 26%, and 29% at 1, 10, and 20 years.⁶² Colectomy rates were similar in a recent population-based French study.⁶³ The cumulative rate of colectomy was 8%, 15% and 20% after 1, 3, and 5 years' disease duration. Interestingly, the presence of extra intestinal manifestations (7% at diagnosis and 22% cumulatively) increased the risk for colectomy (HR 3.5; 95% 1.2-10.5).

It is not clear why colectomy rates are lower in southern and Eastern Europe. Of note however, disease severity (assessed by disease location, extension, or episodes of acute severe colitis) is not necessarily milder in southern or Eastern European centers.

The overall cumulative surgery and reoperation rates in Crohn's disease are still high in Europe with 30-50% of patients needing a surgical intervention and up to 20% needing a reoperation after 5–10 years from the diagnosis according to population-based data. Recent data indicate a decrease in the surgical rates.

The risk of colectomy in ulcerative is approximately 10% after 10 years from the diagnosis. The unexplained geographic variation in the colectomy rates between northwest and Southeast Europe is diminishing in recent years.

6. Extra intestinal manifestations

IBD is associated with a large number of extra intestinal manifestations (EIM). In European studies, EIMs were present in as high as 20–40% of patients with CD and app. 15–20% of patients with UC.⁶⁴ In general EIMs are more common in females. The prevalence is increasing during follow-up, e.g. in a Hungarian study the frequency was higher in patients with a disease >10 years in both CD (29.9% vs. 48.9%, p=0.003) and UC (22.1% vs. 10.4%, p<0.001).⁶⁴

Joint manifestations (peripheral or axial arthropathies) are the most common EIM in IBD, and occur in 20%–30% of patients during follow-up in studies from Hungary, Italy, Switzerland and UK.^{64,65} Symptom range is relatively broad from non-inflammatory arthralgia to acute arthritis with painful swollen joints. In an Italian prospective one-year follow-up study⁶⁶ of 651 IBD patients 45.1% of CD and 36.9% of UC patients reported past or present articular symptoms during a median follow-up of 11 years. In 46% this was associated with active IBD, in 56% symptoms were intermittent and in 19% symptoms preceded IBD diagnosis, while 9.5% of patients (CD: 12.8% and UC: 7.2%) reported recent articular symptoms over the one-year prospective follow-up period.

Peripheral arthropathies can be divided into two subgroups as suggested by authors from the UK⁶⁷: type 1 arthritis (an acute, self-limiting, pauciarticular (>5 joints) arthropathy, typically affecting large joints, associated with other EIM and its course parallels the activity of intestinal disease); and type 2 arthritis (a chronic, bilateral, symmetrical, polyarticular arthropathy affecting five or more small joints, its course runs independent to the course of intestinal disease with a prevalence of 2-4% in both CD and UC). In previous studies from Hungary and the UK, cumulative prevalence of arthritis was more common in CD compared to UC (axial 10% vs. 3% and type-1 6–11% versus 2.7–3.6%), in women and in colonic disease.^{64,67}

Axial arthropathies are sacroileitis and ankylosing spondylitis (AS) with a cumulative incidence of 2–6% in IBD (20-fold higher than in the normal population).^{64,65,68} In addition, arthriticular manifestations may be more frequent in CD patients with stenosing/penetrating disease and in UC in patients with pancolitis. Peripheral but not axial arthritis was more frequent in CD patients with an active disease in the Swiss IBD cohort (45.1% vs 31.3%, p=0.01).⁶⁵ In contrast, no difference in arthritis frequency was reported in UC patients with an active disease or in remission.

Erythema nodosum (EN), pyoderma gangraenosum (PG), and aphthous stomatitis are the most common cutaneous manifestations in IBD. Prevalence rates reported from France, Hungary, Switzerland and UK are app. 5-15% in CD patients, with female predominance, paralleling disease activity in up to 92% of episodes and may recur in app. 20-30% of patients. 64,65,69,70 EN is less common in UC (2-10%), however, the frequency may be higher in patients with extensive colitis. The frequency of PG is less common in both CD and UC (1-2%). In contrast, 36%-50% of patients with PG suffer from IBD. Aphthous stomatitis may be present in 1-10% of IBD patients. The course of skin manifestations is usually related to disease activity but sometimes, especially in the case of pyoderma gangrenosum, may take an independent course. Interestingly, in the Swiss IBD cohorts, only the frequency of aphthous stomatitis was linked to disease activity in patients with CD (17.1% vs 8.6%, p= 0.026).⁶⁵ Finally, in a large French referral cohort patients' skin manifestations were diagnosed in 5.8% in 2402 IBD patients (5.6% EN and 0.75% PG).⁷⁰ Of note, the median delay between the IBD diagnosis and the occurrence of the first dermatologic manifestation was 3.9 years, with a trend for an earlier occurrence in CD patients (CD: 3.5 vs. UC: 5.9 yr, p=0.13) for EN, but not for PG.

The most common ocular manifestations include uveitis and episcleritis. Their prevalence is between 3 and 6% in both CD and UC in studies from Hungary, Switzerland and UK.^{64,65,69} They are associated with disease activity in up to 78% of episodes, with recurrent episodes in app. 30% of patients.⁶⁹ In the Swiss IBD cohort, the frequency of uveitis was 2-fold higher in patients with active CD (12.2 vs. 5.2%), but an association was not found in UC.⁶⁵ In a Hungarian population-based cohort,⁶⁴ ocular manifestations were associated with the disease extent in UC (6.1% in pancolitis vs 1.9% in left sided colitis or proctitis, p=0.01). Furthermore, ocular manifestations may frequently occur together with other (joint or cutaneous) EIM.^{64,69,70}

PSC may be present in 0.7–2% patients with CD and 2–4% of UC patients in studies from both Western and Eastern Europe.^{64,65} If small-duct PSC is included, the overall prevalence ranges between 2.4 and 11%.^{64,71}

In European studies, EIMs were present in as high as 20-40% of patients with CD and 15-20% of patients with UC.

7. Disability and economic burden of IBD in Europe

Little data are available on disability in patients with IBD. Unfortunately, an unequivocal definition of disability is difficult and available assessment tools are measuring different aspects of disability. In one of the early publications by Sonnenberg⁷² CD and UC led to disability in significantly younger patients than other diseases with a significant socioeconomic impact. In CD disability was more common in females, while disability from UC was similar in both sexes.

A second German study reported in 1992 that each year, about 9% and 3% of all German employees with IBD underwent a rehabilitation or were granted a disability pension and that, although they had significantly longer sick leaves, 87% were still employed before entering rehabilitation.⁷³ Importantly, 64% of the total social costs in CD were indirect costs such as early retirement or sick leave, while in UC this was estimated to be as high as 54%.⁷⁴

Of note, however, a huge variation was reported in the disability rates across the world. The TREAT registry reported an overall disability rate of 25%, ranging from 20% in the US to 34% in Europe, 75 possibly reflecting differences in disease severity, local socioeconomic and societal factors, and insurance policies. In 2008 Timmer⁷⁶ summarized data in IBD patients on sick leave in the pre-biologics era. It is estimated that an IBD patient will be sick about 4 weeks per year, off from work for 3 to 6 weeks per year and hospitalized for 10 days. In concordance, IBD patients from the UK77 reported significant interference with social activities, irrespective of the severity of the disease or disease subtype. Median days lost from "household and recreational activities" in six months was 17 in patients with UC and 20 in patients with CD. It should be noted that hospitalization rates may depend on local healthcare policies and are, therefore, difficult to compare across Europe.

In early studies, high disability pension rates were reported from Copenhagen (15% after 15 years' disease duration) in patients with CD.⁴² In a more recent study performed on the IBSEN cohort after 5-year disease duration,⁷⁸ unemployment (11.7%) and sick leave (app. 50%) were more common in IBD patients compared to the Norwegian background population. In contrast, the disability pension rate was only increased in females with CD, confirming earlier data from Germany.⁷³ These results are in line with the results of a more recent study performed in the IBSEN cohort of patients where CD had higher impact on health related quality of life (HRQOL) compared with UC.⁷⁹ Further, women with CD had worse outcome than men in subjective health status and had higher rates of sickness, disability pension and single living.⁸⁰

Also, in the recent update of the IBSEN cohort, the overall disability pension rate 10 years after diagnosis of IBD was 18.8% with significantly elevated RRs of 1.8 in UC and 2.0 in CD. The relative risk for disability pension was highest in patients below 40 years at diagnosis.⁸¹ In addition, a recent Dutch study has shown that although IBD patients are as often employed as the general population, fewer people work fulltime.⁸²

A recent European survey,⁸³ presented by the European Federation of Crohn's & Ulcerative Colitis Associations (EFCCA) in partnership with the European Crohn's and Colitis Organization (ECCO), assessed burden of IBD in Europe through patients' reported data. Underemployment and unemployment due to the intestinal disease were reported in, respectively, 10% and 8% of IBD patients (2/3 in CD). Chronic disease activity was related to both under/unemployment and disability retirement. About half of the patients responded that that their life was significantly affected by IBD during their most recent flare-up. Of these, 26% had had more than 25 days of absence due to IBD and 56% of underemployed respondents worked only part-time. IBD also affects working behavior and career path. 44% of respondents said that they had lost or had had to quit a job because of IBD and 52% felt that IBD had negatively affected their education. Interestingly, Hoivik et al.⁸⁴ reported that work status and sick leave were the only variables, besides IBD related symptoms, that negatively affected HRQOL.

As mentioned initially, comparison between studies and populations is difficult due to underlying differences in definition of disability and in societies. However, recently, a comprehensive International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health (ICF) core set for capturing specific aspects of disability in IBD has been published, and this may lead to a more uniform and objective assessment of disability in patients in IBD.⁸⁵ Finally, it is difficult to measure the economic burden of the disease in the different European countries given the large variation in direct and indirect costs and significant differences in the health care policies. Most systematic data are available from North America.^{86,87} Studies from Europe were published only in the last decade. German and English authors reported retrospectively the inpatient and outpatient costs, from the payer perspective in Ulm and Liverpool.^{77,88} In year 2000, the cost for treating CD was £3416 per patient-year, and for UC, £3021 per patient-year. Inpatient and surgery costs accounted for over half of the costs, and the 10% most costly patients in CD and UC accounted for 59% and 62% of total costs. Patients requiring hospitalization had 10-fold higher costs compared to patients not hospitalized. Similar data were reported in Germany in 1997–2000. The mean cost for outpatient care was €3171 per patient-year in all 548 patients, with drugs accounting for 85% of the total costs. Costs were no different between patients with CD or UC.

The cost analysis from the EC-IBD inception cohort⁴³ was published in 2006. 425 CD patients and 896 UC patients were included in the analysis of eight European countries and Israel. The mean total health care cost (outpatient care, diagnostics, hospitalization, surgery, medication) in IBD was €1871 (SD €4884) per patient-year over the 10-year follow-up. The costs were higher for CD (€2548 per patient-year) compared to UC (€1524 per patient-year). Mean costs varied considerably between countries, being highest in Denmark at €3705 per patient-year and lowest in Norway at €888 per patient-year. Hospitalization accounted for 63% of the cost in CD and 45% in UC. Total and hospitalization costs were much higher in the first year after diagnosis than in the follow-up period. Interestingly, 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) derivatives were the most expensive drug category, however this was a mainly pre-biologic cohort with long-term 5-ASA use. The extent of disease was found to affect the cost in UC patients only. In contrast, in CD the costs varied significantly according to the Vienna classification phenotypes.

In a more recent publication⁸⁹ from the same cohort mean costs were analyzed over the 10-year follow-up period per 3-month treatment cycles from 13 centers. The costs for all treatment states were higher in CD with the exception of surgery. Mean costs were highest for the surgical cycles in both UC and CD (&8132/cycle and &6998/cycle), followed by drug-responsive and drug-dependent states (UC: &1760 and &839/cycle; CD: &2029 and &1033/cycle). Not surprisingly, the costs for mild disease or medical remission were the lowest (UC: &104 and &274/cycle; CD: &184 and &316/cycle). Far more economic studies will be needed in the future to assess the long-term cost-effectiveness and cost-utility of the more intense patient monitoring and advanced treatment strategy in the future. Based on these data from the late 1990s in with a treatment strategy from the pre-biologic data, the direct economic burden associated with IBD can be estimated as high as a total of 4,681–5,596 million Euro direct costs per year in Europe. Updated cost estimation models based on new treatment algorhythms long term, incorporating the biological therapies are urgently awaited.

The health economic burden and permanent work disability in IBD are high in Europe with a total yearly direct healthcare cost of 4.6–5.6 bn Euros.

Unemployment (10%), sick leave (3–6 weeks/year), and permanent work disability (2-fold increased) are more common in patients with IBD than in unaffected individuals. The economic impact is even higher since IBD is affecting patients at an early age.

8. Cancer and mortality

The earliest studies on risk of cancer and mortality in patients with IBD primarily came from the US and to some extent Europe and tended to be based on highly selected patient populations referred for specialist care at tertiary centers.^{90–92} This may be the reason why risk estimates were worryingly high and may have resulted in wrong information of patients and impaired possibilities to obtain reasonably priced medical and life insurances.⁹³

Prognostic studies should ideally be based on unselected patient cohorts representing the broad range of disease appearance and hence producing results that are generalizable to the average IBD patient. This was recognized by Truelove and colleagues in Oxford, UK, in the 1960s and 1970s, where the group published the first important observations of a much better prognosis in 'new cases' with IBD (i.e. those diagnosed and followed at the same clinic) as compared to 'referred cases'.⁹⁴ Following this work, a number of population-based Scandinavian studies were published, which also spoke against a markedly increased risk of cancer or mortality, although the risk of colorectal cancer in patients with extensive colitis was not negligible in all studies.^{95–106}

Results on prognosis from population-based studies have been collected in meta-analyses during the last decade and in addition to these, cross-European and Eastern European studies have emerged in recent years. These will be summarized in the following.

8.1. Colorectal and small bowel cancer

In year 2006, a meta-analysis was published on risk of intestinal cancer in population-based cohorts of patients with Crohn's disease. The meta-analysis was based on 6 studies, of which 4 were European, and the pooled standardized incidence ratio (SIR) of colorectal cancer was 1.9 (95% CI, 1.4–2.5), whereas the SIR of small bowel cancer was 27.1 (95% CI, 14.9–49.2).¹⁰⁷ Of note, the latter estimate was based on very few cases (i.e. a very low absolute risk), which only resulted in a 27-fold increased relative risk due to the extremely rare occurrence of small bowel cancer in the general population. When later adding an Italian study to the meta-analysis, nearly identical estimates were obtained.¹⁰⁸ However, the increased risk of

especially colorectal cancer in patients with Crohn's disease was to some extent explained by the high risk observed in a large Canadian study, ¹⁰⁹ which provided the largest weight to the meta-analysis, whereas studies from Denmark (1962–1997), Sweden (1955–1984; 1965–1983) and Israel (1970–1980) reported quite low SIRs of *1.14* (95% CI, 0.31–2.92), *0.89* (95% CI, 0.29–2.07), *2.2* (95% CI, 1.0–4.3), and *1.14* (95% CI, 0.03–6.33).¹⁰⁷ In line with this, a recent nationwide Danish cohort study showed no increased risk of colorectal cancer among patients with Crohn's disease, ¹¹⁰ and this was also the case in a study from Hungary of 501 incident CD patients (SIR, 0.99; 95% CI, 0.41–2.39).

The risk of colorectal cancer in European patients with Crohn's disease is close to that of the general population.

The relative risk of small bowel cancer in European patients with Crohn's disease is several fold increased, but it is in general a very rare disease and the absolute risk is low.

The risk of colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis has in a former meta-analysis including highly selected studies been suggested to be markedly increased with cumulative probabilities of 2% by 10 years, 8% by 20 years, and 18% by 30 years.¹¹¹ However, a recent meta-analysis based explicitly on population-based studies (8 studies of which 6 were European and the majority Scandinavian) revealed a pooled SIR of 2.4 (2.1–2.7) which was based on relatively low absolute numbers with a cumulative incidence of CRC of less than 1% at 10 years, 0.4%-2.0% at 15 years, and of only 1.1–2.5% at 20 years in studies with sufficiently long follow-up time.¹¹² In accordance with this finding, a recent Hungarian cohort study reported that the relative risk of CRC after a median follow-up time of 10 years was only 1.74 (95% CI, 1.01-3.0) despite a higher frequency of extensive disease and lower surgery rates in Eastern European countries than in Northern Europe.¹¹³ Further, recent cohort studies from Sweden¹¹⁴ and Denmark¹¹⁰ have suggested that the risk of CRC in UC has decreased over calendar time, and that the risk of CRC today is confined to a subset of patients with extensive/long-standing disease, primary sclerosing cholangitis and young age at diagnosis.

The risk of colorectal cancer in European patients with ulcerative colitis has been twice as high as that of the general population.

However, the absolute risk is only 1-2.5% at 20 years and Scandinavian studies suggest a decrease in risk in recent years.

8.2. Extra-intestinal cancer

A meta-analysis from year 2010 on extra-intestinal malignancy in 8 population-based IBD cohort studies (of which 6 were European: 3 from Sweden, 1 from Denmark, 1 from Italy and 1 based on the EC-IBD cohort) revealed that the overall risk of extra-intestinal cancer was not increased (SIR, 1.10; 95% CI, 0.96–1.27).¹¹⁵ However, patients with CD were still at increased risk of cancer of the upper gastrointestinal tract (SIR, 2.87; 95% CI, 1.66–4.96), lung (SIR; 1.82; 95% CI, 1.18-2.81), urinary bladder (SIR, 2.03; 95% CI, 1.14-3.63), and skin (SIR, 2.35; 95% CI, 1.43–3.86), whereas UC patients had an increased risk of liver-biliary cancer (SIR, 2.58; 95% CI, 1.58-4.22) and leukemia (SIR, 2.00; 95% CI, 1.31-3.06), which was counterweighted by a decreased risk of pulmonary cancer (SIR, 0.39; 95% CI, 0.20–0.74).¹¹⁵ These findings may to some extent reflect differences in smoking habits between CD and UC patients, whereas the effect of IBD itself and the treatment hereof on risk of extra-intestinal cancer may have changed with changing treatment options, as the majority of included studies were several decades old. Especially, the risk of skin cancer and lymphoma in IBD has been debated following the introduction of thiopurines^{116–119} and biologicals,¹²⁰ but it is difficult to differentiate between an increased baseline risk and an increased risk related to drug exposure.¹²¹ Concerning the risk of lymphoma, a recent Hungarian study of 1420 patients followed for 19,293 person-years observed 3 lymphomas, all occurring in patients who had never received thiopurines or biologicals and the risk was not higher than among non-IBD individuals (SIR, 1.37; 95% CI, 0.44-4.26).¹²² In contrast, a study from the French CESAME cohort (n=19,486 IBD patients) found a multivariate-adjusted hazard ratio of lymphoproliferative disorder of 5.28 (2.01–13.9, p=0.0007) when comparing patients receiving thiopurines with patients who had never received these drugs.¹¹⁷ However, the French study may have been influenced by selection bias and a recent unselected nationwide Danish cohort study of 45,986 patients with inflammatory bowel disease (1997-2008) reported a more modestly increased risk of lymphoid tissue cancer in IBD patients using thiopurines (RR, 2.40; 95% CI, 1.13-5.11) when compared to unexposed IBD patients and adjusting for propensity scores and a number of potential confounders.¹²³ In line with this, a General Practice Research Database study in the UK reported an OR of 3.22 (95% CI, 1.01-10.18) for lymphoma in ever users of azathioprine as compared to non-users.¹¹⁸ A Dutch study pathology register study of 17,834 IBD patients found no overall increased risk of lymphoma in IBD, but suggested an association between AZA/ 6-MP use and EBV-positive lymphoma.¹²⁴ The risk of cancer following treatment with biologicals still needs to be investigated in long-term observational studies, as done in a recent Danish nationwide cohort study suggesting no overall increased risk of cancer in anti-TNF- α exposed IBD patients compared to unexposed patients.¹²⁵

Finally, the 15-year follow-up of the EC-IBD cohort suggested no increased overall risk of cancer among patients with IBD (independent of treatment).¹²⁶

The overall risk of extra-intestinal cancer is not markedly increased in European patients with IBD despite an increased risk of cancer of the upper gastrointestinal tract, lung, skin and urinary bladder in Crohn's disease and an increased risk of biliary-liver cancer and leukemia in UC counterweighted by a decreased risk of lung cancer.

Thiopurines may increase the risk of lymphoid tissue cancer and non-melanoma skin cancer among European IBD patients, but drug effects are to some extent difficult to differentiate from the baseline increased risk of these cancers.

8.3. Mortality

In a meta-analysis from year 2010 on mortality in CD based on 9 population-based studies of which 8 were European (including an EC-IBD study), the pooled SMR was 1.39 (95% CI, 1.30–1.49). Mortality was increased from cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, gastrointestinal disease, and genitourinary disease.¹²⁷ A recent nationwide Danish study on mortality in IBD confirmed a 50% increased mortality in CD which did, in contrast to what was observed for UC, not decrease over time, hence suggesting that changes in treatment have not improved survival.¹²⁸ However, in contrast to the 40–50% increased mortality in the majority of former studies, a population-based cohort study from Finland (1986-2007) of 1915 adult IBD patients showed no increased mortality from CD. This may be due to the fact that an increased mortality from diseases of the digestive system was counterweighted by reduced mortality from mental and alcohol-related behavioral disorders when comparing IBD patients to the general Finnish population.¹²⁹ Still, another recent population-based study (Netherlands: 1991–2003) also guestioned the suggested increased mortality from CD (SMR, 1.1; 95% CI, 0.7-1.6), despite a significantly increased mortality from gastrointestinal causes (SMR, 7.5; 95% CI, 2.8–16.4) in this patient group.¹³⁰

Mortality is up to 40% increased in European patients with Crohn's disease as compared to the general population.

In a meta-analysis from year 2007 on mortality in UC based on 10 population-based studies (8 European including EC-IBD) no increased overall mortality was observed (standardized mortality ratio, SMR, 1.1; 95% CI, 0.9–1.2), although an excess mortality was seen in patients with extensive colitis, in the first years after diagnosis and in Scandinavian patients.¹³¹ In particular, increased mortality from gastrointestinal diseases, non-alcoholic liver diseases, pulmonary embolisms, and respiratory disease (pneumonia) was observed, but this was counterweighted by reduced mortality from pulmonary cancer.⁴² The studies of the meta-analysis were, however, not recent and a more recent nationwide Danish study reports a decreasing overall mortality among patients with UC during the last three decades, primarily explained by decreased mortality from CRC.¹²⁸ A decrease in mortality from CRC among patients with UC was also observed in a recent Swedish study,¹¹⁴ whereas a recent population-based Dutch study showed decreased mortality from overall cancer in UC.¹³⁰ Population-based studies on mortality among IBD patients from Eastern Europe are lacking.

Mortality is not increased in European patients with ulcerative colitis as compared to the general population.

9. Summary and conclusion

In conclusion, the incidence and prevalence of IBD have increased in the last few decades throughout Europe. The current estimated prevalence of IBD is approximately 0.3% of the European population with a significant geographic variation (North/West to South/East gradient). Studies are underway (e.g. ECCO EpiCom initiative) to further explore the factors associated and responsible for these trends.

Since IBDs affect mainly young individuals in their early adulthood and impact all aspect of the affected individual's life they account for substantial direct and indirect costs to both health care system and society. There seems to be a change in the natural history of IBDs as suggested by the recent studies. However, about half of the patients have frequent relapses or continuous active disease and may develop extra intestinal manifestations. In addition up to 2/3 of the patients with CD patients still develop complications requiring hospitalization and/or surgery although some recent studies suggest a decrease in the surgical rates. Surgical rates have also decreased in UC with 10-15% of patients ultimately requiring colectomy. However, there is an unexplained geographic variation in the colectomy rates between north/west and south/east Europe. The factors reported to be associated with these changes include an altered patient monitoring (more complex, tight patient control) and an optimized, tailored treatment strategy including now a more systematic use of biologicals. Future studies are needed to determine if these drugs can further improve long-term disease outcomes.

New data from Europe suggest that the risk of cancers is lower compared to that previously reported; e.g. the colorectal cancer is close to that in the general population in CD and about 2-fold (1–2.5% after 20-years) in UC according to data from Scandinavia and Hungary. In addition, the risk of extra intestinal cancers is not markedly increased in the European patients.

Nonetheless, the long-term disability rate, economic and social impact of IBD in Europe is enormous. Unfortunately, still app. 20% of the IBD patients in Europe will end up with disability pension and further 10% and 25% have to face unemployment or part time employment problems. In addition sick leave is affecting up to half of the patients and even direct health care costs may be as high as 2–3000€ in average. However, a restructuring of the costs is currently occurring and in a short term study from The Netherlands anti-TNFs already accounted for as high as 2/3rd of the direct costs in CD and 1/3rd in UC with a 3-month total cost of €1626 in CD and €595 in UC).¹⁵⁵ Further Pan-European epidemiological and follow-up studies as well as strategic disease modifying trials are needed to investigate the role of tight control and early patient profile stratification in the disease management hopefully leading to superior long-term outcomes, improved quality of life, decreased disability rates and ultimately normal life.

Conflict of interest

None.

References

- 1. Bernstein CN, Wajda A, Svenson LW, et al. The epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease in Canada: a population-based study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2006;**101**:1559–68.
- 2. Loftus CG, Loftus EV, Harmsen WS, et al. Update on the incidence and prevalence of Crohn's disease and ulcerative

colitis in Olmsted County, Minnesota, 1940–2000. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2007;13:254–61.

- 3. Munkholm P, Langholz E, Nielsen OH, Kreiner S, Binder V. Incidence and prevalence of Crohn's disease in the county of Copenhagen, 1962–87: a sixfold increase in incidence. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 1992;**27**:609–14.
- Langholz E, Munkholm P, Nielsen OH, Kreiner S, Binder V. Incidence and prevalence of ulcerative colitis in Copenhagen county from 1962 to 1987. Scand J Gastroenterol 1991;26: 1247–56.
- 5. Vind I, Riis L, Jess T, et al. Increasing incidences of inflammatory bowel disease and decreasing surgery rates in Copenhagen City and County, 2003–2005: a population-based study from the Danish Crohn colitis database. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2006;101: 1274–82.
- Jacobsen B a, Fallingborg J, Rasmussen HH, et al. Increase in incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in northern Denmark: a population-based study, 1978–2002. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006;18:601–6.
- Róin F, Róin J. Inflammatory bowel disease of the Faroe Islands, 1981–1988. A prospective epidemiologic study: primary report. Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl 1989;170:44–6 [discussion 50–5].
- Manninen P, Karvonen A-L, Huhtala H, Rasmussen M, Collin P. The epidemiology of inflammatory bowel diseases in Finland. Scand J Gastroenterol 2010;45:1063–7.
- 9. Björnsson S, Jóhannsson JH. Inflammatory bowel disease in Iceland, 1990–1994: a prospective, nationwide, epidemiological study. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2000;12:31–8.
- Moum B, Vatn MH, Ekbom A, et al. Incidence of Crohn's disease in four counties in Southeastern Norway, 1990–93. A prospective population-based study. The Inflammatory Bowel South-Norway (IBSEN) Study Group of Gastroenterologists. Scand J Gastroenterol 1996;31:355–61.
- Moum B, Vatn MH, Ekbom A, et al. Incidence of ulcerative colitis and indeterminate colitis in four counties of Southeastern Norway, 1990–93. A prospective population-based study. The Inflammatory Bowel South-Eastern Norway (IBSEN) Study Group of Gastroenterologists. Scand J Gastroenterol 1996;31:362–6.
- Lapidus A. Crohn's disease in Stockholm County during 1990–2001: an epidemiological update. World J Gastroenterol 2006;12: 75–81.
- Lindberg E, Jörnerot G. The incidence of Crohn's disease is not decreasing in Sweden. Scand J Gastroenterol 1991;26:495–500.
- Tysk C, Järnerot G. Ulcerative proctocolitis in Orebro, Sweden. A retrospective epidemiologic study, 1963–1987. Scand J Gastroenterol 1992;27:945–50.
- 15. Rönnblom A, Samuelsson S-M, Ekbom A. Ulcerative colitis in the county of Uppsala 1945–2007: incidence and clinical characteristics. *J Crohns Colitis* 2010;4:532–6.
- Thompson NP, Fleming DM, Charlton J, Pounder RE, Wakefield AJ. Patients consulting with Crohn's disease in primary care in England and Wales. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 1998;10: 1007–12.
- Rubin GP, Hungin a P, Kelly PJ, Ling J. Inflammatory bowel disease: epidemiology and management in an English general practice population. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2000;14:1553–9.
- Gunesh S, Thomas G a O, Williams GT, Roberts a, Hawthorne a B. The incidence of Crohn's disease in Cardiff over the last 75 years: an update for 1996–2005. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2008;27:211–9.
- 19. Fellows IW, Freeman JG, Holmes GK. Crohn's disease in the city of Derby, 1951–85. *Gut* 1990;31:1262–5.
- 20. Bitter J, Hulec J. Ulcerative colitis in the North Bohemian Region. *Cesk Gastroenterol Vyz* 1980;**34**:137–44.
- Salupere R. Inflammatory bowel disease in Estonia: a prospective epidemiologic study 1993–1998. World J Gastroenterol 2001;7:387–8.

- Gheorghe C, Pascu O, Gheorghe L, et al. Epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease in adults who refer to gastroenterology care in Romania: a multicentre study. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2004;16:1153–9.
- 23. Thia KT, Loftus EV, Sandborn WJ, Yang S-K. An update on the epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease in Asia. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2008;**103**:3167–82.
- Lakatos L, Kiss LS, David G, et al. Incidence, disease phenotype at diagnosis, and early disease course in inflammatory bowel diseases in Western Hungary, 2002–2006. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2011;17:2558–65.
- Sincić BM, Vucelić B, Persić M, et al. Incidence of inflammatory bowel disease in Primorsko-goranska County, Croatia, 2000–2004: a prospective population-based study. Scand J Gastroenterol 2006;41:437–44.
- 26. Shivananda S, Lennard-Jones J, Logan R, et al. Incidence of inflammatory bowel disease across Europe: is there a difference between north and south? Results of the European Collaborative Study on Inflammatory Bowel Disease (EC-IBD). *Gut* 1996;**39**:690–7.
- 27. United Nations. World population 2006. United Nations publication; 2007.
- Loftus EV. Clinical epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease: incidence, prevalence, and environmental influences. *Gastroenterology* 2004;**126**:1504–17.
- European Union. Eurostat population at 1st January. Accessed on 7. December 2012, http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/tgm/ table.do?tab=table&plugin=1&language=en&pcode=tps00001 2012 [accessed 7 Dec2012].
- Molodecky N a, Soon IS, Rabi DM, et al. Increasing incidence and prevalence of the inflammatory bowel diseases with time, based on systematic review. *Gastroenterology* 2011;142: 46–54 [e42].
- Burisch J, Duricova D, Turcan S, Sebastian S, Lakatos PL, Munkholm P. Incidence of IBD and phenotype at diagnosis in Europe – first results from the EpiCom study [Abstract]. *Gut* 2012;61(Suppl 3):A20.
- Dignass A, Eliakim R, Magro F, et al. Second European evidence-based consensus on the diagnosis and management of ulcerative colitis part 1: definitions and diagnosis. *J Crohns Colitis* 2012;6:965–90.
- Solberg IC, Vatn MH, Høie O, et al. Clinical course in Crohn's disease: results of a Norwegian population-based ten-year follow-up study. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2007;5:1430–8.
- 34. Jess T, Riis L, Vind I, et al. Changes in clinical characteristics, course, and prognosis of inflammatory bowel disease during the last 5 decades: a population-based study from Copenhagen, Denmark. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2007;13:481–9.
- Cosnes J, Cattan S, Blain A, et al. Long-term evolution of disease behavior of Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2002;8:244–50.
- Louis E, Collard A, Oger AF, Degroote E, Aboul Nasr El Yafi FA, Belaiche J. Behaviour of Crohn's disease according to the Vienna classification: changing pattern over the course of the disease. *Gut* 2001;49:777–82.
- Henriksen M, Jahnsen J, Lygren I, et al. Ulcerative colitis and clinical course: results of a 5-year population-based follow-up study (the IBSEN study). *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2006;**12**:543–50.
- Binder V, Hendriksen C, Kreiner S. Prognosis in Crohn's disease– based on results from a regional patient group from the county of Copenhagen. *Gut* 1985;26:146–50.
- Langholz E, Munkholm P, Davidsen M, Binder V. Course of ulcerative colitis: analysis of changes in disease activity over years. *Gastroenterology* 1994;107:3–11.
- Wolters FL, Russel MG, Sijbrandij J, et al. Phenotype at diagnosis predicts recurrence rates in Crohn's disease. *Gut* 2006;55:1124–30.
- 41. Solberg IC, Lygren I, Jahnsen J, et al. Clinical course during the first 10 years of ulcerative colitis: results from a population-based

inception cohort (IBSEN Study). Scand J Gastroenterol 2009;44: 431–40.

- Munkholm P, Langholz E, Davidsen M, Binder V. Disease activity courses in a regional cohort of Crohn's disease patients. Scand J Gastroenterol 1995;30:699–706.
- Odes S, Vardi H, Friger M, et al. Cost analysis and cost determinants in a European inflammatory bowel disease inception cohort with 10 years of follow-up evaluation. *Gastroenterology* 2006;131:719–28.
- 44. Dinesen LC, Walsh AJ, Protic MN, et al. The pattern and outcome of acute severe colitis. *J Crohns Colitis* 2010;4:431–7.
- Ananthakrishnan AN, Issa M, Beaulieu DB, et al. History of medical hospitalization predicts future need for colectomy in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2009;15: 176–81.
- Bernstein CN, Nabalamba A. Hospitalization, surgery, and readmission rates of IBD in Canada: a population-based study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2006;101:110–8.
- 47. Sonnenberg A. Age distribution of IBD hospitalization. *Inflamm* Bowel Dis 2010;16:452–7.
- Bernstein CN, Loftus EV, Ng SC, Lakatos PL, Moum B. Hospitalisations and surgery in Crohn's disease. Gut 2012;61:622–9.
- Hellers G. Crohn's disease in Stockholm county 1955–1974. A study of epidemiology, results of surgical treatment and long-term prognosis. Acta Chir Scand Suppl 1979;490:1–84.
- Bernell O, Lapidus A, Hellers G. Risk factors for surgery and postoperative recurrence in Crohn's disease. Ann Surg 2000;231:38.
- Munkholm P, Langholz E, Davidsen M, Binder V. Intestinal cancer risk and mortality in patients with Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* 1993;105:1716–23.
- 52. Cosnes J, Nion-Larmurier I, Beaugerie L, Afchain P, Tiret E, Gendre J-P. Impact of the increasing use of immunosuppressants in Crohn's disease on the need for intestinal surgery. *Gut* 2005;**54**:237–41.
- 53. Rungoe C, Basit S, Nielsen NM, Wohlfahrt J, Langholz E, Jess T. Changes in surgery rates and medical therapy through time in inflammatoy bowel disease. A nationwide Danish cohort study [Abstract]. *Gut Suppl* 2012:OP225.
- 54. Lakatos PL, Golovics PA, David G, et al. Has there been a change in the natural history of Crohn's disease? Surgical rates and medical management in a population-based inception cohort from Western Hungary between 1977–2009. Am J Gastroenterol 2012;107:579–88.
- Ramadas a V, Gunesh S, Thomas G a O, Williams GT, Hawthorne a B. Natural history of Crohn's disease in a population-based cohort from Cardiff (1986–2003): a study of changes in medical treatment and surgical resection rates. *Gut* 2010;59:1200–6.
- Höie O, Wolters F, Riis L, et al. Ulcerative colitis: patient characteristics may predict 10-yr disease recurrence in a European-wide population-based cohort. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2007;102:1692–701.
- 57. Nguyen GC, Nugent Z, Shaw S, Bernstein CN. Outcomes of patients with Crohn's disease improved from 1988 to 2008 and were associated with increased specialist care. *Gastroenterology* 2011;141:90–7.
- Leijonmarck CE, Persson PG, Hellers G. Factors affecting colectomy rate in ulcerative colitis: an epidemiologic study. *Gut* 1990;31:329–33.
- Hendriksen C, Kreiner S, Binder V. Long term prognosis in ulcerative colitis-based on results from a regional patient group from the county of Copenhagen. *Gut* 1985;26:158–63.
- 60. Hoie O, Wolters FL, Riis L, et al. Low colectomy rates in ulcerative colitis in an unselected European cohort followed for 10 years. *Gastroenterology* 2007;**132**:507–15.
- 61. Lakatos PL, David G, Pandur T, et al. IBD in the elderly population: results from a population-based study in Western Hungary, 1977–2008. *J Crohns Colitis* 2011;**5**:5–13.

- 62. Langholz E, Munkholm P, Krasilnikoff PA, Binder V. Inflammatory bowel diseases with onset in childhood. Clinical features, morbidity, and mortality in a regional cohort. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 1997;**32**:139–47.
- 63. Gower-Rousseau C, Dauchet L, Vernier-Massouille G, et al. The natural history of pediatric ulcerative colitis: a population-based cohort study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2009;**104**:2080–8.
- 64. Lakatos L, Pandur T, David G, et al. Association of extraintestinal manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease in a province of western Hungary with disease phenotype: results of a 25-year follow-up study. World J Gastroenterol 2003;9:2300–7.
- 65. Vavricka SR, Brun L, Ballabeni P, et al. Frequency and risk factors for extraintestinal manifestations in the Swiss inflammatory bowel disease cohort. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2011;**106**: 110–9.
- D'Incà R, Podswiadek M, Ferronato A, Punzi L, Salvagnini M, Sturniolo GC. Articular manifestations in inflammatory bowel disease patients: a prospective study. *Dig Liver Dis* 2009;41: 565–9.
- 67. Orchard TR, Wordsworth BP, Jewell DP. Peripheral arthropathies in inflammatory bowel disease: their articular distribution and natural history. *Gut* 1998;42:387–91.
- 68. Russell AS. Arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease, and histocompatibility antigens. *Ann Intern Med* 1977;86:820–1.
- 69. Orchard TR, Chua CN, Ahmad T, Cheng H, Welsh KI, Jewell DP. Uveitis and erythema nodosum in inflammatory bowel disease: clinical features and the role of HLA genes. *Gastroenterology* 2002;**123**:714–8.
- Farhi D, Cosnes J, Zizi N, et al. Significance of erythema nodosum and pyoderma gangrenosum in inflammatory bowel diseases: a cohort study of 2402 patients. *Medicine* 2008;87: 281–93.
- Olsson R, Danielsson A, Järnerot G, et al. Prevalence of primary sclerosing cholangitis in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 1991;100:1319–23.
- 72. Sonnenberg A. Disability from inflammatory bowel disease among employees in West Germany. *Gut* 1989;30:367–70.
- Sonnenberg A. Disability and need for rehabilitation among patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Digestion* 1992;51: 168–78.
- 74. Stark R, König H-H, Leidl R. Costs of inflammatory bowel disease in Germany. *Pharmacoeconomics* 2006;24:797–814.
- 75. Sellin J. Disability in IBD: the devil is in the details. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2010;**16**:23–6.
- 76. Timmer a. How often and for how long are IBD patients expected to be sick, off work, or in hospital each year? *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2008;14(Suppl 2):S48–9.
- 77. Bassi a, Dodd S, Williamson P, Bodger K. Cost of illness of inflammatory bowel disease in the UK: a single centre retrospective study. *Gut* 2004;**53**:1471–8.
- Bernklev T, Jahnsen J, Henriksen M, et al. Relationship between sick leave, unemployment, disability, and health-related quality of life in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2006;12:402–12.
- Hoivik ML, Moum B, Solberg IC, et al. Health-related quality of life in patients with ulcerative colitis after a 10-year disease course: results from the IBSEN study. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2012;18:1540–9.
- Stjernman H, Tysk C, Almer S, Ström M, Hjortswang H. Unfavourable outcome for women in a study of health-related quality of life, social factors and work disability in Crohn's disease. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011;23:671–9.
- Høivik ML, Moum B, Solberg IC, Henriksen M, Cvancarova M, Bernklev T. Work disability in inflammatory bowel disease patients 10 years after disease onset: results from the IBSEN Study. *Gut* 2012. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302311.
- Netjes JE, Rijken M. Labor participation among patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2012:1–11.

- Wilson B, Lönnfors S, Vermeire S. The true impact of IBD: a European Crohn's and Ulcerative Colitis patient life. IMPACT Survey 2010-2011, http://efcca.org/media/files/press-Join-Fight/3PRESS_KIT_IBD_IMPACT_REPORT_BCN.pdfhttp://efcca. org/media/files/press-Join-Fight/3.PRESS_KIT_IBD_IMPACT_ REPORT_BCN.pdf.
- Høivik ML, Bernklev T, Solberg IC, et al. Patients with Crohn's disease experience reduced general health and vitality in the chronic stage: ten-year results from the IBSEN study. J Crohns Colitis 2012;6:441–53.
- 85. Peyrin-Biroulet L, Cieza A, Sandborn WJ, et al. Development of the first disability index for inflammatory bowel disease based on the international classification of functioning, disability and health. *Gut* 2012;**61**:241–7.
- Kappelman MD, Rifas-Shiman SL, Porter CQ, et al. Direct health care costs of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis in US children and adults. *Gastroenterology* 2008;135:1907–13.
- Rocchi A, Benchimol EI, Bernstein CN, et al. Inflammatory bowel disease: a Canadian burden of illness review. Canadian journal of gastroenterology. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2012;26:811–7.
- Ebinger M, Leidl R, Thomas S, et al. Cost of outpatient care in patients with inflammatory bowel disease in a German University Hospital. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2004; 19:192–9.
- Odes S, Vardi H, Friger M, et al. Clinical and economic outcomes in a population-based European cohort of 948 ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease patients by Markov analysis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2010;31:735–44.
- Weedon DD, Shorter RG, Ilstrup DM, Huizenga KA, Taylor WF. Crohn's disease and cancer. N Engl J Med 1973;289:1099–103.
- 91. Gyde SN, Prior P, Macartney JC, Thompson H, Waterhouse JA, Allan RN. Malignancy in Crohn's disease. *Gut* 1980;**21**:1024–9.
- Devroede GJ, Taylor WF, Sauer WG, Jackman RJ, Stickler GB. Cancer risk and life expectancy of children with ulcerative colitis. N Engl J Med 1971;285:17–21.
- 93. Travis SP. Review article: insurance risks for patients with ulcerative colitis or Crohn's disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 1997;11:51–9.
- 94. Truelove SC, Pena a S. Course and prognosis of Crohn's disease. *Gut* 1976;17:192–201.
- Ekbom A, Helmick C, Zack M, Adami HO. Ulcerative colitis and colorectal cancer. A population-based study. N Engl J Med 1990;323:1228–33.
- Munkholm P. Crohn's disease—occurrence, course and prognosis. An epidemiologic cohort-study. *Dan Med Bull* 1997;44: 287–302.
- Langholz E, Munkholm P, Davidsen M, Binder V. Colorectal cancer risk and mortality in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 1992;103:1444–51.
- Karlén P, Löfberg R, Broström O, Leijonmarck CE, Hellers G, Persson PG. Increased risk of cancer in ulcerative colitis: a population-based cohort study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1999;94: 1047–52.
- Winther KV, Jess T, Langholz E, Munkholm P, Binder V. Long-term risk of cancer in ulcerative colitis: a population-based cohort study from Copenhagen County. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2004;2:1088–95.
- 100. Jess T, Winther KV, Munkholm P, Langholz E, Binder V. Intestinal and extra-intestinal cancer in Crohn's disease: follow-up of a population-based cohort in Copenhagen County, Denmark. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2004; 19:287–93.
- Winther KV, Jess T, Langholz E, Munkholm P, Binder V. Survival and cause-specific mortality in ulcerative colitis: follow-up of a population-based cohort in Copenhagen County. *Gastroenterology* 2003;125:1576–82.
- 102. Jess T, Winther KV, Munkholm P, Langholz E, Binder V. Mortality and causes of death in Crohn's disease: follow-up of a population-based cohort in Copenhagen County Denmark. *Gastroenterology* 2002;**122**:1808–14.

- Persson PG, Bernell O, Leijonmarck CE, Farahmand BY, Hellers G, Ahlbom A. Survival and cause-specific mortality in inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based cohort study. *Gastroenterology* 1996;110:1339–45.
- Persson PG, Karlén P, Bernell O, et al. Crohn's disease and cancer: a population-based cohort study. *Gastroenterology* 1994;107:1675–9.
- 105. Ekbom A, Helmick CG, Zack M, Holmberg L, Adami HO. Survival and causes of death in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based study. *Gastroenterology* 1992;103: 954–60.
- Ekbom A, Helmick C, Zack M, Adami HO. Extracolonic malignancies in inflammatory bowel disease. *Cancer* 1991;67: 2015–9.
- 107. Jess T, Gamborg M, Matzen P, Munkholm P, Sørensen TI a. Increased risk of intestinal cancer in Crohn's disease: a metaanalysis of population-based cohort studies. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2005;**100**:2724–9.
- 108. Palli D, Masala G, Sera F, Bagnoli S, d'Albasio G. Colorectal cancer risk in patients affected with Crohn's disease. Am J Gastroenterol 2006;101:1400 [author reply 1400–1].
- 109. Bernstein CN, Blanchard JF, Kliewer E, Wajda A. Cancer risk in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based study. *Cancer* 2001;**91**:854–62.
- 110. Jess T, Simonsen J, Jørgensen KT, Pedersen BV, Nielsen NM, Frisch M. Decreasing risk of colorectal cancer in patients with inflammatory bowel disease over 30 years. *Gastroenterology* 2012;143:375–381.e1 [quiz e13–4].
- 111. Eaden JA, Abrams KR, Mayberry JF. The risk of colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis: a meta-analysis. *Gut* 2001;48:526–35.
- 112. Jess T, Rungoe C, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Risk of colorectal cancer in patients with ulcerative colitis: a meta-analysis of populationbased cohort studies. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012:1–7.
- Lakatos PL, Lakatos L. Challenges in calculating the risk for colorectal cancer in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012;10:1179 [author reply 1179–80].
- 114. Söderlund S, Brandt L, Lapidus A, et al. Decreasing time-trends of colorectal cancer in a large cohort of patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 2009;**136**:1561–7 [quiz 1818–9].
- 115. Pedersen N, Duricova D, Elkjaer M, Gamborg M, Munkholm P, Jess T. Risk of extra-intestinal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease: meta-analysis of population-based cohort studies. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2010;105:1480–7.
- 116. Peyrin-Biroulet L, Khosrotehrani K, Carrat F, et al. Increased risk for nonmelanoma skin cancers in patients who receive thiopurines for inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 2011;141(1621–28):e1–5.
- 117. Beaugerie L, Brousse N, Bouvier AM, et al. Lymphoproliferative disorders in patients receiving thiopurines for inflammatory bowel disease: a prospective observational cohort study. *Lancet* 2009;**374**:1617–25.
- 118. Armstrong RG, West J, Card TR. Risk of cancer in inflammatory bowel disease treated with azathioprine: a UK population-based case-control study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2010;**105**:1604–9.
- 119. Van Schaik FDM, Van Oijen MGH, Smeets HM, Van der Heijden GJMG, Siersema PD, Oldenburg B. Risk of nonmelanoma skin cancer in patients with inflammatory bowel disease who use thiopurines is not increased. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011;**9**:449–450.e1 [author reply 450–1].
- 120. De Vries HS, Van Oijen MGH, De Jong DJ. Serious events with infliximab in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a 9-year cohort study in the Netherlands. *Drug Saf* 2008;31:1135–44.
- 121. Jess T. Thiopurines for inflammatory bowel disease: time to engage with dermatologists? *Gastroenterology* 2011;141: 1549–51.
- 122. Lakatos PL, Lovasz BD, David G, et al. The risk of lymphoma and immunomodulators in patients with inflammatory bowel

diseases: results from a population-based cohort in Eastern Europe. *J Crohns Colitis* 2012. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.crohns.2012.06.011.

- 123. Pasternak B, Svanström H, Schmiegelow K, Jess T, Hviid A. Use of azathioprine and the risk of cancer in inflammatory bowel disease. *Am J Epidemiol* 2012.
- 124. Vos a CW, Bakkal N, Minnee RC, et al. Risk of malignant lymphoma in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases: a Dutch nationwide study. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2011;**17**:1837–45.
- 125. Andersen NN, Basit S, Svanström H, et al. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha antagonists and malignancies in inflammatory bowel disease [Abstract]. Barcelona: European Crohn Colitis Organization; 2012.
- 126. Katsanos KH, Tatsioni A, Pedersen N, et al. Cancer in inflammatory bowel disease 15 years after diagnosis in a population-based European Collaborative follow-up study. *J Crohns Colitis* 2011;5: 430–42.
- 127. Duricova D, Pedersen N, Elkjaer M, Gamborg M, Munkholm P, Jess T. Overall and cause-specific mortality in Crohn's disease: a meta-analysis of population-based studies. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2010; **16**:347–53.
- 128. Jess T, Frisch M, Simonsen J. Trends in overall and cause-specific mortality among patients with inflammatory bowel disease from 1982 to 2010. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2013;11:43–8.
- 129. Manninen P, Karvonen A-L, Huhtala H, et al. Mortality in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. A population-based study in Finland. *J Crohns Colitis* 2012;**6**:524–8.
- 130. Romberg-Camps M, Kuiper E, Schouten L, et al. Mortality in inflammatory bowel disease in the Netherlands 1991–2002: results of a population-based study: the IBD South-Limburg cohort. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2010;**16**:1397–410.
- 131. Jess T, Gamborg M, Munkholm P, Sørensen TI a. Overall and cause-specific mortality in ulcerative colitis: meta-analysis of population-based inception cohort studies. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2007;**102**:609–17.
- 132. Latour P, Louis E, Belaiche J. Incidence of inflammatory bowel disease in the area of Liège: a 3 years prospective study. *Acta Gastroenterol Belg* 1993–1996;**61**:410–3.
- 133. Vucelić B, Korać B, Sentić M, et al. Epidemiology of Crohn's disease in Zagreb, Yugoslavia: a ten-year prospective study. *Int J Epidemiol* 1991;**20**:216–20.
- 134. Vucelić B, Korać B, Sentić M, et al. Ulcerative colitis in Zagreb, Yugoslavia: incidence and prevalence 1980–1989. Int J Epidemiol 1991;20:1043–7.
- 135. Chouraki V, Savoye G, Dauchet L, et al. The changing pattern of Crohn's disease incidence in northern France: a continuing increase in the 10- to 19-year-old age bracket (1988–2007). *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2011;**33**:1133–42.
- 136. Ott C, Obermeier F, Thieler S, et al. The incidence of inflammatory bowel disease in a rural region of Southern Germany: a prospective population-based study. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008;20:917–23.
- Economou M, Filis G, Tsianou Z, et al. Crohn's disease incidence evolution in North-western Greece is not associated with alteration of NOD2/CARD15 variants. World J Gastroenterol 2007;13:5116–20.
- 138. Trallori G, Palli D, Saieva C, et al. A population-based study of inflammatory bowel disease in Florence over 15 years (1978–92). *Scand J Gastroenterol* 1996;**31**:892–9.
- 139. Tragnone A, Corrao G, Miglio F, Caprilli R, Lanfranchi GA. Incidence of inflammatory bowel disease in Italy: a nationwide population-based study. Gruppo Italiano per lo Studio del Colon e del Retto (GISC). *Int J Epidemiol* 1996;25:1044–52.
- 140. Romberg-Camps MJL, Hesselink-van de Kruijs MAM, Schouten LJ, et al. Inflammatory Bowel Disease in South Limburg (the Netherlands) 1991–2002: incidence, diagnostic delay, and seasonal variations in onset of symptoms. *J Crohns Colitis* 2009;**3**:115–24.

- 141. Arin Letamendia A, Borda Celaya F, Burusco Paternain MJ, et al. High incidence rates of inflammatory bowel disease in Navarra (Spain). Results of a prospective, population-based study. *Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2008;**31**:111–6.
- 142. Rodrigo L, Riestra S, Niño P, et al. A population-based study on the incidence of inflammatory bowel disease in Oviedo (Northern Spain). *Rev Esp Enferm Dig* 2004;**96**:296–305.
- 143. López-Serrano P, Pérez-Calle JL, Carrera-Alonso E, et al. Epidemiologic study on the current incidence of inflammatory bowel disease in Madrid. *Rev Esp Enferm Dig* 2009;101: 768–72.
- 144. Lakatos L, Mester G, Erdelyi Z, et al. Striking elevation in incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in a province of western Hungary between 1977–2001. *World J Gastroenterol* 2004;10:404–9.
- 145. Pavlovic-Calic N, Salkic NN, Gegic A, Smajic M, Alibegovic E. Crohn's disease in Tuzla region of Bosnia and Herzegovina: a 12-year study (1995–2006). Int J Colorectal Dis 2008;23:957–64.
- 146. Salkic NN, Pavlovic-Calic N, Gegic A, Jovanovic P, Basic M. Ulcerative colitis in the Tuzla region of Bosnia and Herzegovina between 1995 and 2006: epidemiological and clinical characteristics. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2010;**22**:346–53.
- 147. Shivananda S, Peña AS, Mayberry JF, Ruitenberg EJ, Hoedemaeker PJ. Epidemiology of proctocolitis in the region of Leiden, The Netherlands. A population study from 1979 to 1983. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 1987;22:993–1002.

- 148. Shivananda S, Peña AS, Nap M, et al. Epidemiology of Crohn's disease in Regio Leiden, The Netherlands. A population study from 1979 to 1983. *Gastroenterology* 1987;**93**:966–74.
- Daiss W, Scheurlen M, Malchow H. Epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease in the county of Tübingen (West Germany). Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl 1989;170:39–43 [discussion 50–5].
- 150. Saro Gismera C, Riestra Menéndez S, Milla Crespo A, et al. Incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease. Asturian study in 5 areas (EIICEA). Spain. An Med Interna 2003;20:3–9.
- 151. Maté-Jimenez J, Muñoz S, Vicent D, Pajares JM. Incidence and prevalence of ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease in urban and rural areas of Spain from 1981 to 1988. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 1994;18:27–31.
- 152. Juillerat P, Pittet V, Bulliard J-L, et al. Prevalence of Inflammatory Bowel Disease in the Canton of Vaud (Switzerland): a population-based cohort study. J Crohns Colitis 2008;2:131–41.
- Berner J, Kiaer T. Ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease on the Faroe Islands 1964–83. A retrospective epidemiological survey. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 1986;21:188–92.
- Björnsson S. Inflammatory bowel disease in Iceland during a 30-year period, 1950–1979. Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl 1989;170:47–9 [discussion 50–5].
- 155. van der Valk ME, Mangen MJ, Leenders M, et al. Healthcare costs of inflammatory bowel disease have shifted from hospitalisation and surgery towards anti-TNF α therapy: results from the COIN study. *Gut* 2012. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303376.